ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

NOV 04 2013

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Dillon County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAMIEN INMAN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-193887

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for burglary in the first degree, a non-homicide offense, because Appellant was seventeen-years old at the time of the offense; thus, his sentence is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
- II. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to thirty years for kidnapping because the South Carolina Code forbids the imposition of a sentence for kidnapping when a defendant is also convicted of murder concerning the same alleged victim.
- III. The trial judge erred in granting the prosecutor's first motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) where Appellant presented a race and gender neutral explanation for striking Juror #60 – his employment - and the prosecutor failed to present evidence or argument that the reason was a pretext.
- IV. The trial judge erred in granting the prosecutor's second motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) where Appellant presented race and gender neutral explanations for striking the jurors and the prosecutor failed to present evidence or argument that the reasons were pretexts.
- V. The trial judge erred in permitting a witness to testify to her in-court and out-of-court identification of Appellant where the out-of court identification procedure was unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification in violation of Appellant's right to due process of law.
- VI. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for murder because Appellant was seventeen years of age at the time of the offenses and his sentence is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 13, 2010, a Dillon County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder (2009-GS-17-1210), possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2009-GS-17-1211), burglary first degree (2009-GS-17-1212), kidnapping (2009-GS-17-1213), armed robbery (2009-GS-17-1214), grand larceny (2009-GS-17-1215), and criminal conspiracy (2009-GS-17-1217). On December 13, 2010, Appellant was tried before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo and a jury. Kernard E. Redmond and Shipp Daniel represented the state, and Rosalind Sellers represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of all charges. R. 303, line 10 – R. 304, line 5. Judge Russo sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder, life without parole for burglary in the first degree, thirty years for kidnapping, thirty years for armed robbery, ten years for grand larceny, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and five years for conspiracy. He ordered the sentences to run consecutively. R. 316, line 25 – R. 318; line 4; sentence sheets.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Larry Jason Turner, an investigator with the City of Dillon Police Department, testified regarding a statement made by Appellant subsequent to his arrest. R. 141, lines 21-22. According to Appellant's statement, he and his brother were walking down the road when they saw "the murderer," who threatened to kill Appellant and his brother if the two did not participate in the crime. Henry, presumably the murderer, went to the door of a house and asked the occupant for water. Henry told the occupant that he did not know how to turn the water on prompting the occupant to exit her home. Appellant tried to warn her, but Henry put the gun to his head. Henry pointed a gun at her head and instructed her to give him money. When she ran, he knocked her down and threatened to kill her. At Henry's instruction, Appellant drove the occupant's car to the back yard and Appellant's brother assisted Henry in placing her in the trunk.

Henry continued to threaten the two in order to obtain their cooperation. All three got into the car and drove to a wooded area. Henry dragged the occupant out of the trunk. Henry shot her twice in the head. After Henry threatened to shoot Appellant if Appellant's brother refused to help, Henry and Appellant's brother moved her body to the woods. Afterwards, Henry threatened to kill Appellant's brother and mother if he told anyone. Henry dropped Appellant at his home and again threatened him to be quiet. He also forced Appellant to hide a bag of shells at his house. R. 164, line 18 – R. 166, line 3.

John Henry Bridges testified on behalf of the state. Bridges pled guilty to murder, armed robbery, kidnapping, conspiracy, burglary in the first degree, grand larceny and possession of a weapon during a violent crime and received a forty-five year sentence. R. 251, lines 3-21. He testified that he ran into Appellant who asked if he wanted to rob

someone and showed him a small gun. The two then met with Appellant's brother. R. 253, lines 1-19. Appellant's brother then asked Appellant if he wanted to rob someone. R. 254, lines 6-15. The three then received a ride to the football stadium from Appellant's uncle. R. 254, lines 21-24.

Upon exiting the vehicle, the three saw the deceased in her yard. R. 254, lines 24-25. Bridges claimed the three concocted a plan to rob the deceased. The three jumped some ditches and arrived in her yard. They went to her door and asked for some water. The deceased directed them to the water faucet. Bridges told her he could not work the faucet and she exited her home. Appellant's brother hit her in the head with the gun. R. 256, line 11 – R. 257, line 14. Appellant's brother instructed Appellant and Bridges to go into the house to find items to steal. The two found nothing, but Bridges drank some tea from the refrigerator. R. 257, lines 16-20.

Appellant got the car keys and the two exited the house. At Appellant's brother's instruction, Appellant pulled the car to the backyard. Bridges and Appellant's brother placed the deceased in the trunk. The group left the residence in the deceased's car. R. 258, lines 6-19. They stopped on a dirt road. Appellant's brother and Bridges removed the deceased from the trunk. Bridges claimed Appellant "just ran up and shot her twice between the eyes and head. R. 259, line 21 – R. 260, line 1. According to Bridges he started to help drag the deceased's body into the woods, but he stopped because he "couldn't take [it]." R. 260, lines 19-23. The group then went riding in the car. R. 260, line 25 – R. 261, line 1.

Although Bridges was dropped off at a relative's home, but he created a ruse and left the house. R. 263, line 9; R. 264, lines 2-6. Bridges then met back up with Appellant and

his brother. The group continued to ride in the deceased's car. R. 264, lines 6-9; R. 265, lines 11-14. They dropped Appellant off at home because he had to go to school the next day. Bridges and Appellant continued to drive through the night. The two stole tags off a van to conceal the theft of the deceased's vehicle. Appellant's brother had the gun at this time as well. R. 267, line 22 – R. 269, line 5.

During the night, Appellant's brother and Bridges broke into an automobile at a trailer park. Bridges claimed the automobile's owner had stolen something from him in the past and he wanted to still something from her. He was unable to find anything in the car to take, however. R. 269, lines 6-18. The next morning the two took the car to a scrap yard in an attempt to get the car crushed. The scrap yard refused because the car was "hot" and the two did not have a license. Shortly thereafter, the two were chased by police. Eventually, the car wrecked on some railroad tracks, but the two continued to run on foot. Bridges had the gun in his possession and threw it while running. R. 270, lines 2-23. Bridges was arrested and gave a statement to police. R. 271, lines 2-3.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for burglary in the first degree, a non-homicide offense, because Appellant was seventeen-years old at the time of the offense; thus, his sentence is cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Relevant facts

At the time of the offenses for which Appellant was charged and ultimately convicted, Appellant was seventeen-years old. R. 311, lines 18-19. The judge sentenced Appellant to life sentence without parole for burglary in the first degree – specifically, the judge stated: “you are to be committed to the state department of corrections for the remainder of your natural life.” R. 317, lines 10-13; sentence sheet. Appellant did not object to the imposition of the sentence.

Discussion

The United States Supreme Court held life sentences for non-homicide crimes committed while the defendant was under the age of eighteen violated the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010). The Graham Court found that the cruel and unusual punishment clause of the Eighth Amendment forbids the states from determining at sentencing that a juvenile non-homicide offender will never be fit to reenter society. Id. at 2030. Instead, juvenile non-homicide offenders must be given a meaningful opportunity to obtain release. Id. at 2033.

This Court confronted a similar issue in State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 2012). Bonner was sentenced to life without parole for the offense of burglary in the first degree, which occurred when he was seventeen-years old. Id. at 563,

735 S.E.2d at 526. Bonner's trial attorney did not object to the imposition of the sentence at trial; therefore, the issue was not preserved for appeal. Nevertheless, this Court addressed the issue in the interest of judicial economy. Id. at 565, 735 S.E.2d at 527. Relying upon State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009), this Court excused the lack of preservation to address the merits of Bonner's claim. This Court found Bonner's sentence violated the United States Constitution, vacated the sentence, and remanded the case for resentencing. Bonner, 400 S.C. at 567, 735 S.E.2d at 528.

Appellant's life sentence for burglary in the first degree should be vacated. Pursuant to Appellant's current sentence, he would be imprisoned until his death. S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-311(B). Appellant was only seventeen when he allegedly committed the burglary. Appellant's "sentence guarantees he will die in prison without any meaningful opportunity to obtain release, no matter what he might do to demonstrate that the bad acts he committed as a teenager are not representative of his true character." See Graham, 130 S.Ct. at 2033 (2010). Appellant's case is virtually identical to Bonner's. Appellant respectfully requests this Court address the issue presented in the interest of judicial economy.¹ The application of Graham and Bonner to the instant matter requires vacation of Appellant's sentence of life without parole for burglary in the first degree and remand for sentencing.

¹ If the case were affirmed on procedural basis, trial counsel could not articulate any strategic reason for failing to object at a post-conviction relief proceeding, State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E. 2d 315 (1991) and the prejudice is manifest.

- II. The trial judge erred in sentencing Appellant to thirty years for kidnapping because the South Carolina Code forbids the imposition of a sentence for kidnapping when a defendant is also convicted of murder concerning the same alleged victim.

Relevant facts

The trial judge sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder and to thirty years for kidnapping. He ordered the sentences to run consecutively. R. 316, line 25 – R. 317, line 3; R. 317, lines 14-16; R. 318, lines 2-3; sentence sheets. Appellant did not object to the imposition of the sentence.

Discussion

South Carolina's statutory scheme forbids the imposition of a sentence for kidnapping when a defendant is also convicted of murder. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. Specifically, the governing statute provides

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years unless sentenced for murder as provided in section 16-3-20.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. "Our courts have long held, where an appellant has been sentenced for murder of a victim, this code section precludes a sentence for kidnapping of that victim, and any such sentence should be vacated." Vick, 384 S.C. at 201-202, 682 S.E.2d at 281(citing Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 584-585, 503 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1998); State v. McCall, 304 S.C. 465, 470, 405 S.E.2d 414, 416-417 (Ct. App. 1991), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 352, 520 S.E.2d 614, 616 (1999); State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 8, 317 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1984); State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 290, 495,

299 S.E.2d 324, 327 (1983); State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 597, 300 S.E.2d 63, 77-78 (1982)).

Just as in Vick, *supra*, this Court should address the merits of the issue in the interest of judicial economy. Without question, Appellant could raise this issue in an application for post-conviction relief as a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to object to an improper sentence. Based upon the clear statutory language and the abundance of case law on the matter presented, Appellant's sentence for kidnapping is improper. Thus, judicial economy weighs heavily in favor of this Court addressing the merits of the claim at this time. Appellant respectfully requests this Court address the merits of the issue and vacate his sentence for kidnapping.

III. The trial judge erred in granting the prosecutor's first motion pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) where Appellant presented a race and gender neutral explanation for striking Juror #60 – his employment - and the prosecutor failed to present evidence or argument that the reason was a pretext.

Relevant facts

On December 13, 2010, Judge Russo qualified the jury venire and engaged in voir dire. Subsequently, the parties struck the jury. Juror #60, David Cox, explained that he was a “self-employed farmer” and that his wife worked for him. R. 327, lines 20-22.

Appellant struck Cox and others during the first striking of the jury. R. 26, line 25 – R. 35, line 22. Thereafter, the prosecution moved to quash the jury panel based upon an alleged violation of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986). R. 36, lines 21-24. Specifically, the prosecution challenged Appellant's striking of jurors #166, 60, 281, 21, 100, 17, and 174. Tr. 44, lines 2-16. Of these jurors, only Juror #60 ultimately sat on Appellant's jury; therefore, this brief will address the motion as it concerns Juror #60.²

² Judge Russo also granted the state's motion as to Jurors #17 and #166. R. 43, line 1-4. Appellant struck Juror #17 because the juror worked at the Herald, which Appellant believed was a media outlet. R. 39, line 24 – R. 40, line 2. The prosecutor countered that the juror worked at “Herald Multiple Forms, i.e. office supply,” not a newspaper. R. 40, lines 3-7. Appellant struck Juror #166 because the juror worked at a bond shop. R. 37, line 22 – R. 38, line 2. The prosecutor countered that the juror said he worked at a body shop. Appellant admitted she may have misheard, but her information was that he worked at a bond shop and that was the basis for the strike. R. 38, lines 3-8. Concerning Juror #166, Judge Russo stated he had concerns because the juror stated that he worked or owned a body shop. R. 42, lines 16-18. Judge Russo called Appellant's reason for striking Juror #17 a “mischaracterization or a misunderstanding of the [juror's] place of employment.” He further explained that he could not accept such as race neutral because it would “circumvent the entire *Batson* system.” R. 42, line 23 – R. 43, line 21. During qualifications, Juror #17 stated she worked for “Harold Uniformers” and Juror #166 stated he was “self-employed in bond shop,” which would be the equivalent of a pawn

Appellant's counsel explained she struck Juror #60 because he was a farmer.³ She explained her thought process concerned "terms of education" and the fact that forensics would be introduced in the case. She wanted "someone in a more sophisticated occupation." When the judge challenged Appellant that he "graduated from law school with a farmer" and asked if being a farmer were the equivalent of being uneducated, Appellant explained the strike was "based on his employment." R. 38, lines 8-19.

Although the judge did not make a specific ruling at this point, the judge asked the state to respond, which is an implicit finding that the reasons offered by Appellant were race and gender neutral. R. 40, lines 11-12. The prosecutor responded that the reasons given "were very pretext." He did not "think [they were] race neutral reasons as recognized by the State of South Carolina for a preemptory [sic] challenge to a jury and absence that non-pretextual [sic] reason." He contended "the defense ha[d] failed to meet its burden of showing race neutral or pretextual [sic] reason for having struck those jurors." He moved to re-strike the jury. R. 40, lines 17-25.

The judge then asked if Appellant had "[a]nything further." Appellant responded that none of the reasons given were based on race or gender. R. 41, lines 1-18. The trial judge explained that he understood Appellant struck Juror #60 because he was a farmer and that farmers are not educated. R. 42, lines 19-22. He further granted the prosecution's

shop. R. 324, lines 19-21; R. 333, lines 16-18. Neither Juror #17 nor Juror #166 was a member of the jury that tried Appellant.

³ The transcript refers to "160" as the juror number; however, the state did not challenge a strike against #160 and a review of the entire proceedings involving the first jury strike reveals Juror #160 was not called. Further, during the qualifications process, juror #160 was revealed to be a female who worked as an assistant manager. R. 333, lines 6-8. Therefore, Appellant has construed this as a typographical error by the court reporter.

motion as to Juror #60 finding the reason given was not “sufficient.” As a result, the judge forbade Appellant from striking Juror #60 in the subsequent selection. R. 43, lines 1-21. Ultimately, Juror #60, David Cox, was a member of the jury that tried Appellant. R. 88, lines 13-20. In fact, Juror Cox was elected the jury foreperson. R. 140, lines 9-12.

Discussion

The United States Supreme Court held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the prosecution from striking potential jurors on the basis of race. Batson, *supra*. In a subsequent opinion, the United States Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant may not engage in racial discrimination in exercising peremptory strikes. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 59 (1992). Two years later, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the Fourteenth Amendment also prohibits the striking of a juror on the basis of gender. J.E.B., 511 U.S. at 146 (1994). In Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), the United States Supreme Court set out the procedures for a trial court to follow when a party challenges a peremptory strike. The South Carolina Supreme Court adopted that procedure in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996). The first step requires the moving party to make out a prima facie case of racial or gender discrimination.⁴ At the second step, the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to present a race or gender neutral explanation for the challenged strike. If a race or gender neutral explanation is provided, then the third step requires the trial judge to decide

⁴ Our Supreme Court has determined that “requesting a Batson hearing in effect sets out a prima facie case of discrimination.” State v. Chapman, 317 S.C. 302, 305-306, 454 S.E.2d 317, 319-320 (1995) overruled on other grounds by State v. Hicks, 330 S.C. 207, 499 S.E.2d 209 (1998).

whether the moving party has proven purposeful racial or gender discrimination. Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767; see also State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 415, 645 S.E.2d 904, 909 (2007).

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