ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dillon County
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2011-193887

RECEIVED
OCT 29 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAMIEN INMAN,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5758
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Judicial Circuit
P. O. Box 616
Bennettsville, SC 29512
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dillon County

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **Where the Appellant was sentenced to a life sentence for burglary after Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010) was decided, the sentencing error is not preserved where no objection to the life sentence was made under any theory and is more properly presented in a post-conviction relief setting. However, this Court in State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 2012) recently addressed an analogous situation and vacated the non-homicide life sentence and remanded for re-sentencing when the issue was not preserved.**

On December 16, 2010, Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment for the offense of burglary in the first degree on Indictment 2009- GS-17-1212. ROA p. 317, ll. 10-13. At the time of the crime on August 17, 2009, the Appellant was 17 years old, having been born on August 2, 1992. Sentencing Sheets ROA __, See also ROA p. 189, ll. 11-13 (reference that Appellant was charged as adult since he was 17 at the time of the crime); ROA p. 311, ll. 18-20 (defense counsel noted his age of 17 at the crime and 18 years old now in mitigation of sentence). No objection to the life sentence

for burglary was made by counsel in any fashion at the sentencing.

However, prior to the December 2010 trial and sentencing, on July 6, 2010, in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2061 (2010), the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment's cruel and unusual punishment clause "prohibits the imposition of a life without parole sentence on a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide." 130 S.Ct. at 2034. The Court explained: "A State is not required to guarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a non-homicide crime. What the State must do, however, is give [these offenders] some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation before the end of that term." 130 S.Ct. at 2030.

It is well settled that "[i]ssues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 - 694 (2003). Thus, "a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review." State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999). At the time of Appellant's sentencing, there was no challenge to the sentence at all by defense counsel. Since Graham had been decided at the time of the trial, an objection was available and appropriate. However, no objection was made. Therefore, the sentencing issue is not preserved for review, and should not be addressed in this direct appeal. Id.

Even so, Respondent notes the issue will, most likely, be addressed in pursuant to the Uniform Post-Conviction Relief Act, section 17-27-10 *et. seq.* of the South Carolina Code, which was expressly created to address this precise issue. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20(3) (Supp. 2010) (finding PCR appropriate where sentence exceeds the maximum authorized by law); Accord, Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 584-85, 503 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1998)(relief given in PCR setting).

At the time of the crime, Appellant was seventeen years old and a juvenile under the Graham test. Thus, while Appellant suffers no harm from the instant sentencing error, the life without parole or natural life sentence is sentencing error under Graham, and likely will be addressed in a PCR proceeding where counsel's failure to object to the sentence under the existing precedent of Graham would be addressed. Here, however, the issue is procedurally barred from review, and should not be addressed. Appellant's argument to the contrary should be rejected.

The State recognizes this Court has recently addressed similar issues on direct appeal in State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 2012). In Bonner, the Court found that the sentence of LWOP for burglary in the first degree should be vacated under Graham, even though no objection had been made to the sentence and it occurred before Graham was decided. He contends, like Bonner did, that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution, as interpreted in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010), forbid the imposition of a LWOP sentence for a non-homicide crime committed by a juvenile. The Court of Appeals in Bonner agreed. The Court then applied the procedure used in State v. Vick to vacate the sentence and remand for resentencing. State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 201-203, 682 S.E.2d 275, 281-282 (Ct. App. 2009). Therefore, applying this Court's precedent in State v. Vick and State v. Bonner, vacation of the sentence for burglary in the first degree may be appropriate if this Court chooses to extend this limited exception to the preservation rules.¹ Id.

¹Respondent however asserts that the most appropriate vehicle for raising the un-preserved claim consistent with the legislature intent would be a state post-conviction relief application, Section 17-27-10, *et seq.*, which was specifically created to address claims related to counsel's failure to object to evidence, sentences and other collateral issues. Accord, Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 584-85, 503 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1998)

II. Appellant's conclusion that the sentence on the kidnapping conviction on 2009-GS-17-1213 should be vacated is not preserved for appeal as that issue was never raised before the trial judge. Even so, while it appears that the sentence should not have been imposed in light of the murder conviction and sentence, the kidnapping conviction still stands pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-3-910.

In his conclusion to the Brief of Appellant, Damien Inman asserts that in the interest of judicial economy the sentence for Appellant's kidnapping conviction should be vacated. As set forth below, only the additional sentence on Indictment 2009-GS-17-1213 is at issue because it relates to the kidnapping of Mary Stutts and the murder conviction on Indictment 2009-GS-17-1210 concerned the murder of Mary Stutts. As set forth below, the sentencing proviso in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 does not preclude a conviction for kidnapping - only additional sentencing when the defendant is sentenced for murder of the same person kidnapped.

HOW THE ISSUE WAS NOT RAISED BELOW

The Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment for murder; five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; life imprisonment for burglary in the first degree; thirty years for armed robbery; thirty years for kidnapping; ten years for grand larceny and five years for criminal conspiracy. ROA 316-18 No objection was made to the sentences. ROA p. 318, ll. 5-6.

Respondent will address the issue as one of whether the sentence should be vacated. Respondent would note that even if the sentence is vacated, in any proceeding, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910, the conviction itself still stands. State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 490, 299 S.E.2d 324 (1983).

1. THIS SENTENCING ISSUED IS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL BY THE FAILURE OF AN OBJECTION.

It is well settled that "[i]ssues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 - 694 (2003). Thus, "a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review." State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 462; State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 586, 611 S.E.2d 273, 282 - 283 (Ct. App. 2005). There was no challenge to the sentence at all; therefore, the instant issue is not preserved for review, and should not be addressed in this direct appeal. *Id.* Even so, Respondent notes that the issue will, most likely, be addressed in another forum.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 provides:

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years **unless sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20.**

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910(emphasis added).

"Generally, when a defendant is convicted for murder, any sentence for the kidnapping of the victim would be vacated." State v. Vazsquez, 364 S.C. 293, 302, 613 S.E.2d 359, 363 (2005). It is error to sentence a defendant for kidnapping of the victim when he is also convicted of the murder of the victim. *Id.* If imposed, however, the sentence is considered "ineffective." State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 6 n. 2, 515 S.E.2d 508, 510 n.2 (1999).Cf. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 483 n. 6, 688 S.E.2d 857, 862 n. 6 (Ct. App. 2010). Thus, while appellant suffers no harm from the instant sentencing error, it is error, and likely will be addressed in a separate PCR proceeding. Here, however, the issue is procedurally barred from review, and may not be addressed. Appellant's argument to the contrary should be rejected.

2. THIS COURT HAS PREVIOUSLY VACATED SIMILAR KIDNAPPING

SENTENCES WHERE THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESERVED.

This Court addressed a similar unpreserved kidnapping sentencing issue in State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 201-203, 682 S.E.2d 275, 281 - 282 (Ct. App. 2009). Recently, this Court addressed a different issue in State v. Bonner, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct.App. 2012) involving a life without parole sentence for a non-homicide kidnapping for a 17 year old. This is more fully addressed in arguments 1 and 6 within this brief.

Applying this Court's precedent in State v. Vick, and State v. Bonner vacation of the sentence for kidnapping on the particular indictment related to Mary Stutts would be appropriate in this limited exception to the preservation rules for kidnapping sentences. State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (S.C. App. 2009); State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 317 S.E.2d 129 (1984), should this Court chose to ignore the preservation issue.

III. The trial judge did not err in finding the defense violated the mandates of Batson v. Kentucky in its strike of white male potential juror 60 for the reason that he was a farmer and his occupation was not sophisticated because it was a pretext because he did not strike similarly situated African American jurors who were either unemployed, worked at a farm, or had less sophisticated employment at a deli.

Appellant contends the trial court erred in finding strikes made by the defense violated Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). Argument three concerns the decision that juror 60, David Cox, who ultimately sat on the jury, was improperly struck by the defense in the initial strike of the jury. Argument four addresses the second strike and the trial court's determination that juror Jennifer Blackard (#25), juror Susan Cook (#56) and juror Ashley Hyatt (#129) were improperly struck by the defense in violation of Batson. Further, he maintains the trial court improperly prevented him from striking the same jurors when they were called in the subsequent jury draw. The explanations

given by counsel for the strikes of the four jurors were clear pretext and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the strikes violated Batson. As a result, the jurors were properly reinstated into the jury pool and could not be struck during the subsequent jury draw. This argument concerns the pretextual assertion concerning the strike of David Cox.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Whether a Batson violation has occurred must be determined by examining the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record.” State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 615, 545 S.E.2d 805, 810 (2001). “Appellate courts give the trial judge's finding great deference on appeal, and review the trial judge's ruling with a clearly erroneous standard.” *Id.* “A finding is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by the record.” *Id.* at 620, 545 S.E.2d at 813.

“The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a venire person on the basis of race or gender.” *Id.* at 615, 545 S.E.2d 805, 545 S.E.2d at 810. “The purposes of Batson and its progeny are to protect the defendant's right to a fair trial by a jury of the defendant's peers, protect each venireperson's right not to be excluded from jury service for discriminatory reasons, and preserve public confidence in the fairness of our system of justice by seeking to eradicate discrimination in the jury selection process.” State v. Haigler, 334 S.C. 623, 628–29, 515 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1999) (citations omitted). “When one party strikes a member of a cognizable racial group or gender, the trial court must hold a Batson hearing if the opposing party requests one.” Shuler, 344 S.C. at 615, 545 S.E.2d at 810.

In Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995), the Supreme Court of the United States explained the proper procedure for a Batson hearing as follows:

Under our Batson jurisprudence, once the opponent of a peremptory challenge has

made out a prima facie case of racial discrimination (step one), the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to come forward with a race-neutral explanation (step two). If a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide (step three) whether the opponent of the strike has proved purposeful racial discrimination.

Step two of this process does not demand an explanation that is persuasive or even plausible. State v. Rogers, __ S.C., __ S.E.2d __, 2013 Westlaw 4734571 (S.C. App. Sept. 4, 2013); State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 314, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct.App.2006) (quoting Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767–68). At step two, “the proponent of the strike does not carry ‘any burden of presenting reasonably specific, legitimate explanations for the strikes.’” Id. (quoting State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 123, 470 S.E.2d 366, 371 (1996)). “Therefore, ‘[u]nless a discriminatory intent is inherent’ in the explanation provided by the proponent of the strike, ‘the reason offered will be deemed race neutral’ and the trial court must proceed to the third step of the Batson process.” Id. (quoting Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768).

“At step three, the opponent of the strike must show the reason offered, though facially race-neutral, was actually mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.” Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298 (citing Adams, 322 S.C. at 124, 470 S.E.2d at 372). “The burden of persuading the court that a Batson violation has occurred remains at all times on the opponent of the strike.” Haigler, 334 S.C. at 629, 515 S.E.2d at 91. “This burden is generally established by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury.” Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298.

“Under some circumstances, the race-neutral explanation given by the proponent may be so fundamentally implausible that the judge may determine, at the third step of the analysis, that the

explanation was mere pretext even without a showing of disparate treatment.” Payton v. Kears, 329 S.C. 51, 55, 495 S.E.2d 205, 208 (1998). “When the opponent of the strike proves the proponent of the strike practiced purposeful racial discrimination, the trial court must quash the entire jury panel and initiate another jury selection de novo.” Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298.

“If a trial court improperly grants the State's Batson motion, but none of the disputed jurors serve on the jury, any error in improperly quashing the jury is harmless because a defendant is not entitled to the jury of her choice.” State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 509, 682 S.E.2d 820, 823 (2009).

“However, if one of the disputed jurors is seated on the jury, then the erroneous Batson ruling has tainted the jury and prejudice is presumed in such cases ‘because there is no way to determine with any degree of certainty whether a defendant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury was abridged.’

“Id. (quoting State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 114, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248 (2006)). “The proper remedy in such cases is the granting of a new trial.” Id.

South Carolina has rejected the "dual-motivation" doctrine in Batson cases, and instead, “South Carolina follows the ‘tainted’ approach whereby a discriminatory explanation for the exercise of a peremptory challenge will vitiate other nondiscriminatory explanations for the strike.” State v. Rayfield, 357 S.C. 497, 503, 593 S.E.2d 486, 489 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Payton v. Kears, 329 S.C. 51, 59, 495 S.E.2d 205, 210 (1998)).

The trial court's finding of purposeful discrimination rests on its evaluation of demeanor and credibility. Id. at 509, 682 S.E.2d at 823. "Often the demeanor of the challenged attorney will be the best and only evidence of discrimination, and an 'evaluation of the [attorney's] mind lies peculiarly within a trial [court's] province.'" Id. (quoting Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 365 (1991)).

HOW THE ISSUE WAS RAISED BELOW

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